SUPREME COURT FILED

No. S S 2 0 0 9 2 3

MAR 1 9 2012

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frederick K	. Ohlrich	Clerk
-------------	-----------	-------

Deputy

SAM DURAN, MATT FITZSIMMONS, individually and on behalf of other members of the general public similarly situated,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

V.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, Defendant and Appellant.

Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal,
First Appellate District, Division One, Case Nos. A12557 and
A126827, Reversing Judgment and Decertifying Class in
Case No. 2001-035537
Superior Court of Alameda County
Honorable Robert B. Freedman

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

This case presents the following issues for review:

- 1. In a wage and hour misclassification class action, does the defendant have a due process right to assert its affirmative defense against every class member?
- 2. Can a plaintiff satisfy the requirements for class certification if a defendant has a due process right to assert its affirmative defense against every class member?
- 3. Can statistical sampling, surveys and other forms of representative evidence be used to prove classwide liability in a wage and hour misclassification case?
- 4. When an appellate court reviews a class action judgment and an order denying class decertification, does the appellate court prejudicially err by (a) applying newly-announced legal standards to the facts and then reversing the judgment and the class order without providing for a new trial and/or (b) reweighing the evidence instead of reviewing the judgment and order under the substantial evidence standard of review?

These issues – or variations on them – are now pending before this Court in *Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court* (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 25, review granted October 22, 2008 (S166350). Review in this case is sought on both a grant-and-hold and a plenary basis.

INTRODUCTION

In the course of disapproving the trial plan for this class action, the court of appeal reached two unprecedented conclusions. First and fundamentally, it concluded that a defendant had a due process right, in a class case, to insist on an individualized determination of its exemption defense for every class member. Second, it found that class liability may rarely, if ever, be based on statistical sampling or other forms of representative evidence. While theoretically a new trial plan might address these issues ("we need not speculate as to whether a workable trial plan could have been devised to account for these individual inquiries....it is doubtful that such a plan could be successfully implemented" (slip opinion ["slip op."], p. 73)), the court elevated its trial plan holding to a black-letter constitutional and class certification doctrine: "The trial court's denial of the second motion to decertify was based on the erroneous legal assumption that a finding of liability due to misclassification could be determined by extrapolating the findings based on the RWG [random witness group] to the entire class." Slip op., p. 72

There is no basis under California law for either of the conclusions reached by the court of appeal. Instead, relying primarily on dicta from federal class action cases and a substantive law holding in a federal Title VII employment discrimination class action, the court imposed an

extraordinarily heavy class certification and trial burden on plaintiffs in California class actions. Instead of focusing on the common issues that might be proved in a class case, subject to a deferential abuse of discretion standard of review, the court's new due process right to individualized defenses would make individual issues paramount, precluding class adjudication in most cases. For the fortunate rare case that could meet this new class certification standard, trial would likely be an unmanageable succession of repetitive mini-trials of each class member's claim. In this case, plaintiffs showed that such mini-trials would likely take two years for the 260-member class.

While the court of appeal could have written a narrow decision limited to the perceived errors in developing the trial plan, it did not. It went further, indicating not only that any trial in this case would likely fail its due process and sampling tests, but also decertifying the class as well. The court did not rule on whether a new trial and new class certification decision were even permissible in this case although those issues were raised in a petition for rehearing. Moreover, its analysis of the alleged defects in the trial plan was infected by its reweighing of the evidence and its failure to apply the required substantial evidence standard of review in reviewing the factual findings of the trial court.

The court of appeal's decision creates a split of authority with many

of this Court's decisions, but particularly with Sav-On Drug Stores, Inc. v. Superior Court (2004) 34 Cal.4th 319. Sav-On emphasized the trial court's broad discretion to certify a class action based on its findings regarding common issues, and specifically rejected the contention that a defendant employer's claim that some class members may be exempt would necessarily prevent class certification. Sav-On also enthusiastically embraced the use of statistical sampling and other representative techniques as valid methods of proof of both liability and damages in class cases. Above all, Sav-On urged trial courts to be "procedurally innovative" in certifying and managing class actions. Id. at 339. Trial courts "must be accorded the flexibility to adopt innovative procedures" in class actions, Sav-On teaches. Ibid.

The impact of the court of appeal's decision in this case has been swift and widespread, with lower courts and the defense bar seizing upon its perceived implications. In *Puchalski v. Taco Bell Corp.*, a certified wage and hour class action that was in its second week of trial when the *Duran* decision issued, the Court of Appeal for the Fourth District, Division 1, responding to a writ, ordered the trial court to "consider *Duran* ... and exercise its discretion whether to reconfigure or decertify the class." *Taco Bell Corp. v. Superior Court*, No. D061344 (Feb. 8, 2012). Trial courts around the state are being asked to decide, based on *Duran*, whether class

certification should be denied or reversed or whether a particular trial plan denies due process. See, e.g., *Martinez v. JATCO, Inc.*, Alameda Sup Ct. No. RG08-397316 (Dec'n Feb. 22, 2012); *Nilsson v. Longs Drug Stores, Inc.*, Santa Barbara Sup. Ct. No. 1304153 (Def't's Proposed Lit. Plan), filed March 2, 2012; *Kairy v. Supershuttle International, Inc.*, N. D. Cal. No. 3:08-CV-02993-JSW(BZ), Jt. Case Mgt. Statement, filed March 2, 2012.

Defense commentators have called *Duran* a "game-changer for California class actions" (*Duran v. US Bank: Aftershocks of Wal-Mart v. Dukes* (2/24/2012) www.law360.com/articles/308271/print?section=classaction) and have opined that the decision "is likely to influence every phase of wage and hour class litigation." Cotter, *Pivotal new ruling on management of class actions* (2/14/2012) SF Daily Journal, p. 3. One management-side attorney predicted that under *Duran*, class certifications would drop by 95 percent. Sumers, *Appellate ruling could dampen employment class actions* (2/8/01) SF Daily Journal, p. 4.

This Court should grant review to decide these crucial issues, which are being addressed every day in courts around the state, as wage and hour litigation continues to grow and expand. The lower courts and litigants need guidance on whether *Duran* is indeed a "game-changer for California class actions" or whether its broadly-phrased principles are inconsistent with existing California class action law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this factual statement, we set forth the facts consistent with the substantial evidence rule, resolving credibility disputes and inferences in favor of plaintiffs, the prevailing parties below. The court of appeal disregarded the trial court's findings, often accepting defense evidence the trial court had rejected and rejecting evidence the trial court had credited. Plaintiffs raised this issue in a petition for rehearing, which was denied without relevant modification.

The Complaint Alleged Misclassification and Failure to Pay Overtime. Plaintiffs Presented Extensive Evidence in Support of Class Certification.

The complaint alleged that defendant failed to pay overtime to its Business Banking Officers ["BBOs"], who were misclassified as exempt employees under the outside sales exemption, which is met under California law only if employees customarily and regularly spend more than half their working time in sales activities away from the employer's place of employment. 1 CT 1-16;42 RT 2939-2940; 6 CT 1682-1683; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 11040(1)(C), (2)(M).

In support of their motion for class certification, plaintiffs filed declarations from 37 current and former BBOs. The declarations stated that BBOs spend the vast majority of their time engaged in sales activities, spend more than half their work time inside Bank properties and work more

than 40 hours per week. 6 CT 1460-1601, 11 CT 3077-3083, 13 CT 3664-3672.

Plaintiffs also submitted deposition excerpts from USB managers, which established the following: BBOs work 40-60 hours per week, selling bank products. 7 CT 1739-1741;6 CT 1664, 1668. USB has always classified BBOs as exempt. USB has standardized hiring, training, and evaluation procedures for BBOs (6 CT 1649-1654, 1678, 1680; 7 CT 1738) but has never tracked or kept records of how much time they work outside Bank property. 6 CT 1656, 1687-1689, 7 CT 1742-1743. BBOs are not evaluated, disciplined, or compensated based on *where* they spend their work time but only on whether they meet or exceed their sales goals. 6 CT 1667, 7 CT 1729-1730, 1736, 1739, 1746-1747. USB's job descriptions for the BBO position have never stated that they are expected to spend more than 50% of their working time outside Bank premises. 6 CT 1670-1671, 1674-1677, 7 CT 1757-1765.

In Opposition to Class Certification, Defendant Filed Declarations Obtained by Fraud.

Defendant's opposition to certification included standardized declarations from numerous BBOs, who claimed they regularly spend more than half their time performing sales activity outside the office. 9 CT 2302-10 CT 2694. There was evidence that the Bank used fraudulent methods to

solicit and draft many BBO declarations. Four class members repudiated the declarations that defendant had filed in their names and submitted new declarations in support of plaintiffs. 9 CT 2325-2328, 9 CT 2308-2311, 10 CT 2649-2651, 10 CT 2620-2625. A fifth BBO's declaration described how a Bank attorney had attempted to get her to file a false declaration, which she refused to do. 13 CT 3664-3668.

The Trial Court Certified the Class, Finding That Common Questions of Law and Fact Predominated.

After reviewing nearly 3400 pages of evidence and written argument and holding a lengthy hearing, the trial court granted plaintiffs' motion for class certification and denied defendant's opposing motion. The court found: (1) the class was ascertainable and numerous; (2) common questions of law and fact predominated over individual questions; (3) the named plaintiffs' claims were typical of the class; and (4) the named plaintiffs and class counsel would adequately represent the class. 16 CT 4528-4535, 5 RT 115-153.

On the commonality issue, the court found that there was sufficient evidence that the BBO position was standardized throughout the Bank so that USB's realistic expectations and the actual requirements of the job would be susceptible to common proof. The court also found that USB classified all BBOs as exempt without any individualized inquiry as to any

employee's job duties or monitoring to ensure that exemption requirements were being satisfied. The court concluded "there exists a classwide commonality of interest making class treatment a superior method of resolving this dispute." 16 CT 4533, internal quotations omitted.

The Trial Court Formulated a Trial Management Plan After Seeking USB's Input Without Success.

A year before the start of trial, the court began to develop a trial plan. It directed the parties to meet and confer and to submit proposals on trial management. 8 RT 204-207.

Relying on the declaration of Dr. Richard Drogin, a noted statistician, plaintiffs proposed that the parties' experts jointly prepare a survey to be administered to class members concerning where they spent their time and how many hours they worked. After the survey, a random group of witnesses would be selected for further discovery and testimony. The results of the testimony from the random sample would be applied to the class as a whole. 20 CT 5853-5858, 5863-5875. The proposal was modeled after the approach used in *Bell v. Farmers Ins. Exchange* (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 715.

Defendant's only proposal was that the court appoint special masters to hold individual trials of liability and damages for *all* class members. USB steadfastly opposed any plan based on a survey or on representative testimony. 2 CT Supp. 349-351; 20 CT 5891-21 CT 5906.

The court announced that it was preliminarily inclined to adopt a

trial plan consistent with plaintiffs' proposal. The court ordered the parties to meet and confer and to file a joint statement concerning areas of agreement and disagreement on the trial plan before the next conference, to be held in September 2006. 21 CT 5911-5915. The parties' joint statement revealed complete disagreement. Plaintiffs continued to espouse a plan based on a survey plus representative testimony. Defendant objected to any plan that did not involve individual trials of liability and damages for each class member. 21 CT 5916-5929.

At a hearing a month later, the court proposed to select a random number of class members – perhaps 20 – to testify at trial, with the findings on liability and damages to be extrapolated to the rest of the class. 10 RT 221-238. The court's proposal was modeled on plaintiffs' trial management plan. The only reason the court proposed to omit the survey was that defendant "strenuously and vigorously" opposed it. 10 RT 222, 225. Before finalizing the plan, the court urged the parties to meet and confer about many topics, including possible use of a survey and the number of random witnesses. 10 RT 234-237; 21 CT 6163-6166.

The meet and confer went nowhere because USB continued to insist on individual hearings on liability and damages for each class member. After reviewing the parties' responses, the court announced that 20 class members, randomly chosen, along with the two plaintiffs, would testify in Phase I of the trial. These witnesses were called the Representative Witness Group or "RWGs." 11 RT 240, 248-249; 22 CT 6241-6245. The

court randomly selected 25 names (20 witnesses and 5 alternates) from among all the class members. 12 RT 266-267; 22 CT 6289; 71 CT 20988-20989.

Plaintiffs Dismissed Their Legal Claims and Proceeded Only Under the UCL. Four RWGs Opted Out.

After plaintiffs announced their intention to dismiss their legal claims under the Labor Code and proceed to a bench trial on their equitable claim under the Unfair Competition Law (22 CT 6290-6317), the court allowed plaintiffs to file a third amended complaint (23 CT 6618-6632) but ordered that class members be notified and given a second opt-out opportunity. 23 CT 6614-6616, 6633-6638. Nine class members opted out, including four RWGs, leaving a total of 261 class members. 25 CT 7285-7286, 7290, 12 RT 266-267. Two RWGs who opted out were Michael Lewis and Sean MacClelland, who by then held USB management 25 CT 7334, 7338. USB moved to reinstate Lewis and positions. MacClelland as RWGs, claiming they opted out before they learned they Plaintiffs demonstrated that Lewis and were RWGs. 25 CT 7304-7318. MacClelland and all other RWGs were immediately informed of their selection. 25 CT 7376-7377, 7395, 7397. The court refused to reinstate Lewis and MacClelland as RWGs. 26 CT 7430-7431.

At Trial, All the RWGs Testified They Spent a Majority of Their Time Inside Bank Properties.

Phase I of the trial lasted 41 trial days. Plaintiffs presented testimony from 21 of the 22 RWGs, who all testified they performed exclusively sales duties (22 RT 790; 27 RT 1353-1354), worked more than 40 hours per week, and spent more than 50% of their work time *inside* Bank property. All testified that the Bank had never informed them, orally or in writing, that the majority of their work should be "outside" the Bank. E.g., 71 CT 20998-21007; 19 RT 517, 539-540; 21 RT 699, 711; 22 RT 839, 848-849; 28 RT 1434-1437; 30 RT 1649, 1656; 31 RT 1749, 1752-1754; 32 RT 1827-1831; 40 RT 2611, 2622, 2628-9, 2668-2669; 41 RT 2736-2737, 2752, 2758-2759, 2802.¹

The RWG testimony provided additional evidence that USB had submitted false employee declarations in opposition to class certification. Chad Penza, Adney Koga and Steven Bradley testified that the USB declarations submitted in their names were filled with untrue statements which they had not made and they had signed the declarations out of fear for their jobs. 22 RT 878-880, 886; 23 RT 957-976; 36 RT 2231, 2237-2238, 2267-2268; 40 RT 2669, 2716-2718.

In pre-trial depositions, a few RWGs had testified that they spent most of their work time *outside* the Bank. At trial, all the RWGs testified they worked a majority of time *inside*. In explaining the change, some RWGs noted that they now had access to travel reimbursement records that provided clarity about their activities. 33 RT 2017-2020; 38 RT 2389-2390, 2441-2442; 40 RT 2667-2669, 2714-2715, 42 RT 2841-2843. Other RWGs testified that after being deposed, they had thought about their work

Much of the Defense Evidence Favored Plaintiffs.

The defense case consisted of testimony from 18 witnesses, almost all USB managers. Much of it was favorable to plaintiffs.

Ted Biggs, Western Regional Manager for Small Business, testified he was unaware of any mandatory policy that BBOs spend a majority of their time outside Bank property. 49 RT 4046-4047. Ross Carey, Division Manager for the Western States with responsibility for the Small Business Banking Organization, confirmed that USB does not track where BBOs spend their work time and that there is no compliance program to ensure they are outside most of the time. 43 RT 3022-3023, 3042. Linda Allen, Human Resources Manager, testified there was no ongoing audit program to ensure that BBOs are properly classified as exempt. 58 RT 4810. Patricia Ann Farley, District Manager for the East Bay Area (45 RT 3217), stated that BBOs are evaluated and rewarded based on *whether*, not *where*, they meet their sales goals. 45 RT 3239, 3286-3289.

The Statement of Decision Found the Class Was Non-Exempt.

The trial court's Statement of Decision ["SOD"] found that the RWGs' testimony was credible and persuasive and was not rebutted by defense evidence. 71 CT 20998. It concluded that every RWG worked overtime hours and spent more than half of his/ her work time *inside* Bank locations. 71 CT 21016. It also found that the RWGs were "typical and

experiences more carefully. 29 RT 1612-1613, 31 RT 1710-1711, 1734.

representative of the entire class" and their testimony validated the trial management plan. 71 CT 20998-20999. The SOD stated that defendant had failed to meet its burden of proving that the BBOs were within the outside sales exemption. 71 CT 21016-21017.

The SOD further found that the employees' practices did not diverge from USB's reasonable expectations because "the only expectation U.S. Bank had for its BBOs was that they hit their production goals." 71 CT 21008. "[A]s long [as] BBOs satisfy their sales production goals, they are meeting the Bank's expectations even if they spend little or no time out of the branch," the SOD declared. 71 CT 21009. "Defendant has never had a policy or requirement for BBOs to be outside of bank locations more than half of their work time." 71 CT 21010. Significantly, the SOD found that it was not realistic for BBOs to spend more than half their work time outside bank locations because many aspects of the job could only be performed inside bank facilities. 71 CT 21008-21016.

The SOD concluded that the class was misclassified as exempt and was therefore owed overtime compensation in amounts to be determined in Phase II. The court found that, on average, the RWGs worked 11.87 overtime hours per week. 71 CT 21018.

The SOD refused to admit Bank-drafted declarations and deposition excerpts from class members who were not RWGs. 71 CT 20991. The court concluded that "the weight to be given to these declarations must be adjusted because of their actual authorship, the circumstances of

preparation and internal inconsistencies and ambiguities." The evidence was not offered until after defendant had rested its case and the evidence would be inconsistent with the trial plan and rulings on motions in limine.

The Trial Court Denied Defendant's Second Decertification Motion.

After the Phase I trial, USB filed a second decertification motion, contending that the evidence at trial and the BBO declarations showed variations among the class members that required individual determinations. 62 CT 18394-18440. The court denied the motion as an "effort to modify the findings and conclusions reached in the SOD." 78 CT 23227. It found it was appropriate to apply the Phase I liability findings to the class as a whole and that doing so did not violate defendant's due process rights. 78 CT 23227-23228.

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