No. S200923

SUPREME COURT

**FILED**

APR 25 2012

Frederick K. Ohirich Clerk

**IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

Deputy

SAM DURAN, MATT FITZSIMMONS, individually and on behalf of  
other members of the general public similarly situated,  
*Plaintiffs and Respondents,*

v.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,  
*Defendant and Appellant.*

Answer to Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal, First  
Appellate District, Division One, Case Nos. A125557 and A126827,  
Reversing Judgment and Decertifying Class in Case No. 2001-035537  
Superior Court of Alameda County  
Honorable Robert B. Freedman

**ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

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

Contrary to Petitioners' suggestion, *Duran* creates no split of authority with other published precedent on issues of class certification or the use of representative evidence. The decision is consistent with this Court's opinion in *Sav-On Drug Stores v. Super. Ct.*, 34 Cal.4th 319 (2004), and with the court of appeal's own prior opinion in *Bell v. Farmers Ins.*, 115 Cal.App.4th 715 (2004) (*Bell III*). Furthermore, the decision hardly sounds the death knell for wage and hour class actions in California. Rather, consistent with this Court's recent decision in *Brinker v. Super. Ct.*, \_\_ Cal.4th \_\_, 2012 Cal. LEXIS 3149 (2012), class actions will continue to be certified in wage and hour cases where liability is capable of joint



resolution based on uniform policies and practices, and courts may find that representative evidence is appropriate in such cases to determine liability. This simply is not one of those cases.

*Duran* represents nothing more than a proper application of well-established law regarding class actions, due process principles, and the outside salesperson exemption. As such, it is not necessary for the Supreme Court to “settle” any uncertain issue or to resolve any conflict among the courts. Review should be denied.

## **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Plaintiffs/Petitioners are former BBOs employed by USB in California who claim they were misclassified by USB as exempt outside salespersons and denied overtime compensation. BBOs are responsible for developing and growing USB’s small business banking relationships by trying to market and sell business banking products and financial services to existing and new business customers. TE 6; 21RT 691; 42RT 2903, 2917; 49RT 3894; 61RT 4974-80. BBO job duties include meeting with prospective and existing customers at their business locations, networking at community events and developing relationships with referral sources – activities that require BBOs to work outside of USB’s premises. *Id.*; 8CT 2173, 2297-10CT 2694; 21RT 633-35; 20RT 568-69; 22RT 899, 913-18; 24RT 1058; 29RT 1503. USB’s 2002 BBO job description specifically states that BBOs are expected to spend 80% of their time on these “outside sales activities.” TE 6; 43RT 2982; 46RT 3586; 60RT 4895-96; 62RT 5030-31. BBOs work autonomously to achieve their sales goals and desired levels of compensation, are largely unsupervised, and come and go as they please. 8CT 2178-79, 2297-10CT 2694; 31RT 1723, 1799-1800; 33RT 1977-1978; 36RT 2256-57; 38RT 2429-30; 52RT 4371-4372.

Amina Rafiqzada filed this overtime action in 2001, alleging that USB misclassified her and a putative class of Small Business Bankers

("SBBs")<sup>1</sup> as exempt employees. 1CT 1-16. Rafiqzada, however, admitted at deposition that she spent the majority of her work time outside USB property on sales duties, thereby qualifying for the outside sales exemption. Plaintiffs' counsel then replaced Rafiqzada with three new class representatives who testified at their depositions they too spent a majority of their time outside USB property on sales activities. 3CT 530-545; 68CT 20174-20188. As a result, Plaintiffs' counsel went shopping again for an allegedly injured plaintiff and eventually substituted in two new class representatives, Sam Duran and Matt Fitzsimmons. 16CT 4447-4462.

In January 2005, the parties filed simultaneous motions concerning class certification. 6CT 1602-1629; 7CT 1783-1822. In opposition to class certification, USB submitted 75 declarations of putative class members (along with deposition testimony of the 4 prior named plaintiffs) all stating they regularly spent more than half their time outside USB engaged in sales. 7CT 1804; 8CT 2172-2173; 8CT 2297-10CT 2694; 11CT 3102-3105. Plaintiffs submitted 37 declarations of BBOs stating they spent the majority of their time on sales inside the Bank. Plaintiffs focused on USB's uniform classification of BBOs as exempt, standardized job descriptions, hiring and training practices, and evaluation procedures (none of which dictated that BBOs spend the majority of their time inside the Bank), and lack of evidence tracking how much time BBOs spent inside versus outside. (Petition, 7.)

Notwithstanding the absence of a uniform policy or systematic practice requiring BBOs to spend a majority of their time inside Bank property, the court rejected USB's argument that determination of liability

---

<sup>1</sup> After USB merged with First Star in 2001, the position was subsequently renamed "Business Banking Officer." 42RT 2940-2941.

required an individualized analysis as to how much time each BBO spent outside the Bank. Relying primarily on USB's uniform classification of the position, the court granted class certification, defining the class as "all employees who worked for [USB] in ... California as either a Business Banking Officer or a Small Business Banking Officer, at any time between December 26, 1997 and September 26, 2005." 16CT 4528-4535; 4474, 4521, 4652, 4654; 83CT 24649. The class, therefore, included all of the individuals who testified at deposition and/or by way of declaration that they spent the majority of their work time outside USB.

Following class certification, the parties engaged in months of briefing and conferences regarding a trial plan. 8RT 203-207; 20CT 5852-22CT 6289; 23CT 6557-6581. USB proposed determining liability and damages through individual mini-trials using special masters. 2CT(Supp'l) 349-351; 20CT 5896; 21CT 5917-5929. Plaintiffs advocated using a survey and pilot study to determine an appropriate sample. 20CT 5853-5867; 21CT 5917-5957. USB objected to a survey on due process grounds. 21CT 6037-6134; 21CT 6167-22CT 6208; 22CT 6226-6239; 22CT 6268-6288; 23CT 6557-6581.

In September 2006, the court declared its intent to use "representative testimony" at trial and requested briefing as to the appropriate sample size, but stated that a sample size larger than 50 "is too high." 21CT 6163-6166; 10RT 233-235. USB objected that the contemplated use of "representative testimony" was improper. 21CT 6181-6199. In October 2006, the court (without any expert endorsement) declared that the sample would consist of just 20 randomly selected class members and 5 alternates to determine classwide liability and damages, referring to them as the "representative witness group" or "RWG." 22CT 6243, 6289; 2CT(Supp'l) 397. The court later deemed Duran and Fitzsimmons part of the RWG and eliminated one randomly-selected RWG

member, resulting in a sample of 21. 83CT 24626-24627.

Prior to trial, Plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed all of their legal claims and proceeded only on their equitable UCL claim to avoid a jury trial. 2CT(Supp'l) 390-94; 22CT 6290-93, 23CT 6618. When the court suggested this dismissal might require a second opt-out opportunity, USB objected that a second opt-out would compromise the randomness of the RWG because individuals selected to testify might opt out to avoid participating in the trial. 12RT 256; 23CT 6571-74. The court nonetheless ordered a second opt-out opportunity. 23CT 6614-6616, 6634. Nine class members opted out, including four of the initially-selected RWG members. 25CT 7285-7290.

Of the four RWG members who opted out, Michael Lewis and Sean MacClelland had previously testified that they spent the majority of their time on sales duties outside the Bank. 25CT 7305-7314, 7322-7327, 7333-7340; TE 1115; 53RT 4465. Plaintiffs' counsel persuaded them to opt out, given their known testimony favorable to USB. USB moved to have them reinstated as RWGs, which the court denied. 25CT 7298-7353; 26CT 7430-31.

Prior to trial, USB moved to decertify the class, arguing that RWG depositions, coupled with the pre-certification evidence, demonstrated that myriad individual issues (both as to liability and damages) predominated. 29CT 8429-30CT 8613, 8733-32CT 9278. The court denied the motion. 38CT 11089-11098; 32CT 9362-79.

Phase I of the trial began in May 2007. Over USB's repeated objections, the court prohibited USB from calling any non-RWG class member (38CT 1164-71; 44CT 12975-78; 45CT 13298) and also prohibited USB from introducing declaration/deposition testimony of non-RWG class members. 18RT 445-453; 48CT 14258-14276; 55CT 16129-16143, 16146, 16164-65; 64RT 5124-5128. Phase I required 40 court days, concluding in

September 2007. 45CT 13215, 48CT 14245; 55CT 16144.

Phase I produced no evidence of a uniform policy or practice mandating all BBOs to spend the majority of their time inside the Bank. Instead, Phase I was essentially 21 mini-trials regarding the individual circumstances (and defenses) applicable to the RWG. These mini-trials underscored USB's position that liability could not properly be determined on a classwide basis but required individualized inquiry as to each class member.

For example, serious individualized liability questions were raised by the fact that several RWGs admitted prior to trial that they (like many of the absent class members) spent the majority of their time outside the Bank, but then self-servingly changed their testimony at trial. *See* TE 1000-1001; 23RT 979-991 (Penza signed two declarations stating he spent majority of time outside the Bank which he attempted to retract at trial because he was "new" to USB and had a lot of commissions at stake, but admitted no one at USB asked him to sign either declaration or knew their contents); 29RT 1610-13, 1625-37 (McCarthy testified at deposition that more often than not she spent a majority of her time outside, but "suddenly recalled" at trial that she never did so, and the only intervening factor between her deposition and trial was that she spoke to Plaintiffs' counsel). Additional RWGs who provided trial testimony directly contradicting sworn pre-trial testimony on the pivotal issue of the amount of time they spent outside the Bank include Adney Koga and Steven Bradley. TE 1087; 40RT 2671-80; 2686-96; 42RT 2834-38; 40RT 2686-2689; 40RT 2689, 2707-08, 2713-17; 42RT 2846-55; TE 1017; 36RT 2237-42; 2267-2268; 36RT 2221-2243, 2274-2277; TE 1016-1017; 35RT 2203-2207; 36RT 2216, 2225-2228, 2231-2233, 2238-39; 49RT 3949-51.

Unique liability issues were also made apparent through testimony of RWGs revealing that they had no claim against USB for various

individualized reasons. For example, several RWGs admitted they did not work overtime, and thus had no right to any recovery. 42RT 2881-84 (Steven Bradley); 26RT 1219-20, 1223-24, 1236-1238 (Matt Gediman); 33RT 1978-83 (Brett Lindeman).

Individualized testimony by other RWG members revealed that, contrary to USB job titles and records suggesting they held the position of BBO, they did not actually perform BBO duties and thus should not have been part of the class. Troy Petty was mapped into the BBO job title due to a merger, but his job duties were actually those of a Business Banking Relationship Manager. 25RT 1108-09, 1127-33; 29CT 8541-8542; TE 1080; 26RT 1171-72; 48RT 3839-42; 3845, 3881-82; 42RT 2940-2941; 25RT 1096, 1109; 26RT 1161; 48RT 3837-3846, 3854; 56RT 4674-77; 61RT 4972-75, 4993-4995. At least one other class member is known to have performed the same job as Petty, rendering that class member and Petty inappropriate members of the class and not entitled to recovery. 48RT 3881-3884.

In addition to the foregoing, Phase I revealed USB's numerous unique defenses applicable to individual RWG members. USB presented evidence showing that certain RWG members should be precluded from recovering in this equitable action because they had signed releases of claims, engaged in resume fraud, made false statements under oath, and/or knowingly failed to disclose their potential overtime claim in this action in bankruptcy proceedings. TE 1081-82; 71 CT 21005-06; TE 1083; 29RT 1528-1548, 1556-1562; 29RT 1531-1540; 32RT 1870-73; TE 44, 1075G; 32RT 1847-1870; TE 37, 1003, 1013-1015, 1079; 25RT 1076-1082; 34RT 2052-75; 34RT 2055-2059; 48CT 14075-76, 14182-92, 14229.

Based on the trial evidence highlighting the need for individualized inquiries, coupled with all of the pre-trial evidence showing the lack of a uniformly applicable policy or practice as to where BBOs spent their work

time, USB filed a second decertification motion after Phase I. The court denied this motion as well, again relying on USB's uniform classification of the BBOs and uniform job descriptions and the like—none of which has any bearing on *where* BBOs performed their sales duties. The court also relied on its belief that liability as to entire class could be determined based on testimony of the RWG members without violating USB's due process rights. 62CT 18394-440; 78CT 23227-28.

On September 22, 2008, the court entered its Statement of Decision (“SOD”) for Phase I, finding that the entire class had been misclassified and had worked overtime (including to the four prior named plaintiffs and 75 class members who admitted at deposition or in declarations to spending the majority of their weekly work time outside USB). 71CT 21008, 21046-49.

The Phase II trial began October 1, 2008. USB again sought to call as witnesses the four former named plaintiffs and approximately 75 favorable declarants, and alternatively sought to introduce their deposition testimony and sworn declarations. 73CT 21500-10. The court again precluded this evidence. 78CT 23516. Plaintiffs called statistician Richard Drogin and accountant Paul Regan to testify during Phase II. 78CT 23224-26, 23230-34. USB called its own statistical expert, Andrew Hildreth, and accountant, Joe Anastasi (to rebut Regan's testimony), to testify regarding the implications of the Phase I findings and the lack of any basis to extrapolate those findings to the class. 79CT 23494-23495.

The court ordered Plaintiffs to propose a Phase II SOD, which the court then adopted in virtually every respect, including Plaintiffs' expert's admission that the estimate of weekly overtime for the class carried a **43.3% margin of error** (+/- 5.14 hours). 79CT 23518; 80CT 23794-833; 81CT 23940-24023, 24092-24122, 24172. Judgment was entered May 20, 2009, awarding Plaintiffs and the class over \$8.9 million as restitution of

unpaid overtime and over \$5.9 million in prejudgment interest. 83CT 24650-51.

USB timely filed its Notice of Appeal. 86CT 25542-43. The court of appeal reversed the judgment, holding that the trial court's trial plan violated USB's due process rights by preventing USB from presenting any evidence to challenge the claims of 239 absent class members, and was also statistically unsound as evidenced by, among other things, the 43.3% margin of error in weekly overtime hours. *Duran v. U.S. Bank*, 203 Cal.App.4th 212, 252-64 (2012). The court reasoned that no known court had authorized the use of representative testimony to establish liability, as opposed to damages, in a misclassification case where liability turns on the issue of how much time class members spend performing exempt duties in the absence of a uniform policy making the answer to this question susceptible to common proof. *Id.* at 254-57. Furthermore, even if there had been evidence of such common proof, the trial court's representative trial formula was still fatally flawed because it was not statistically endorsed or sound, allowed non-random class member testimony to be extrapolated to the entire class, precluded USB from presenting evidence to defend against the claims, and allowed uninjured class members to recover. *Id.* at 252-53; 257-269. As a result, the court of appeal held that the trial plan violated USB's due process rights.

The court of appeal also reversed the trial court's denial of USB's second decertification motion after Phase I of the trial. The court held that the trial court's decision was based on the erroneous legal assumption that its trial management plan was a proper means of establishing liability as to the entire class. *Id.* at 270-75. The court also held the trial court erroneously focused on USB's uniform classification of BBOs and lack of a uniformly communicated expectation that BBOs spend the majority of their time outside the Bank as criteria suggesting sufficient commonality to



decide liability on a classwide basis without individual inquiry. *Id.* For these reasons, the court held the trial court had abused its discretion in refusing to decertify the class.

## LEGAL DISCUSSION

### III. THERE ARE NO GROUNDS FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW

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